IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-01926

DR. CLAUDIA A. LIMBERT, individually and as President of Mississippi University for Women; MISSISSIPPI UNIVERSITY FOR WOMEN; and MISSISSIPPI BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF STATE INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

V.

MISSISSIPPI UNIVERSITY FOR WOMEN ALUMNAE ASSOCIATION, INC.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM LOWNDES COUNTY CHANCERY COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The constitutional principle of separation of powers prohibits a Mississippi court from second-guessing a policy decision concerning higher education administration made by the IHL Board of Trustees and a public university president.
- 2. The constitutional principle of separation of powers requires that a Mississippi court defer to an executive branch agency in the interpretation and implementation of that agency's rules and regulations.
- 3. A Mississippi court cannot mandate that a public university president exercise her judgment in a particular manner concerning the goals and nature of the university's relationship with affiliated entities.
- 4. A public university president cannot have acted in "bad faith" if she exercised a clear contractual right.
- 5. A public university president cannot have acted in "bad faith" if her actions were in the best interests of that university and consistent with the IHL Board of Trustees' directions.
- 6. Specific performance of a contract is not appropriate if the contract requires an ongoing affiliated relationship between the parties as opposed to the occurrence of a particular act or transaction.
- 7. A public university has a protectable property interest in its names, marks, symbols and logos and may prohibit their use by other persons or entities.

STATEMENT OF CASE¹

A. Nature of Case

÷

ι,

í.

This case concerns the authority of the Mississippi Board of Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning to govern Mississippi University for Women and the ability of the University to manage its contractual relationship with the Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Association and other affiliated entities and to control the Alumnae Association's use of the University's names, marks, symbols and logos.

¹The following abbreviations are used in this Brief: R____- Record; RE____- Record Excerpts; T____- Trial Transcript; PX____- Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit; and DX____- Defendants' Trial Exhibit.

B. Course of Proceedings

í t

1

t

ē

i.

L

On February 1, 2007, Mississippi University for Women sent the Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Association a 60-day written notice of termination of their Affiliation Agreement, as permitted by that contract.² On March 29, 2007, four days before the end of the notice period, this litigation originated with the filing of a Complaint by the "Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Association National Executive Board" against Dr. Claudia Limbert, President of the University.³ The "National Executive Board" sought a temporary, preliminary and permanent injunction and declaratory relief against Dr. Limbert to prevent termination of the Alumnae Association's affiliation with the University.

On April 1, Dr. Limbert moved to dismiss for, among other reasons, lack of subject matter jurisdiction, lack of standing, lack of capacity to sue and mootness.⁴ Following a brief hearing in chambers on April 2, the Chancery Court required that the Alumnae Association name and notice all necessary and appropriate parties.⁵ The Chancery Court did not grant any of the National Executive Board's requested relief.

The Alumnae Association served its First Amended Complaint on April 5, three days after the end of the termination notice period, identifying itself as the plaintiff and naming as defendants, in addition to Dr. Limbert, Mississippi University for Women and the IHL Board.⁶ As in the original Complaint, the First Amended Complaint sought relief solely against Dr. Limbert, including a

²Letter from Mayo to Compretta (February 1, 2007) (PX 5; RE 5 at 34-35).

³Complaint (R 3-44).

⁴Defendants' Motion to Dismiss (R 47-92).

⁵Order (R 102).

⁶First Amended Complaint (R 115-65).

permanent prohibition against disaffiliation from the Alumnae Association and miscellaneous declaratory relief. The First Amended Complaint sought no other affirmative relief against Dr. Limbert and no relief of any type against the University or the IHL Board of Trustees.

On April 10, Defendants moved to dismiss the amended claims based on lack of jurisdiction and mootness.⁷ That same day, Defendants answered the First Amended Complaint and stated their affirmative defenses to the claims.⁸ In addition, the University stated its counterclaim for injunctive and declaratory relief to prohibit the Alumnae Association from using the University's names, marks, symbols and logos to suggest any continued connection to the University.

On May 8, the Chancery Court conducted a hearing on Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction, Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Defendants' Motion for Preliminary Injunction.⁹ At the conclusion of the Alumnae Association's proof, the Court denied Defendants' Motion to Dismiss "at this point". By agreement, the parties consolidated the remainder of the proof into a final hearing on the merits, which the Chancery Court conducted on June 5.¹⁰ The parties submitted post-hearing briefs in late July.¹¹

In its Opinion and Judgment (October 1, 2007),¹² the Chancery Court determined that Alumnae Association leaders were trying to control the management and leadership of the University and to remove Dr. Limbert as President. The Chancery Court further found that these leaders'

1 :

i.

¹⁰T 216-381.

⁷Defendants' Second Motion to Dismiss (R 202-361).

⁸Defendants' Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim (R 166-201).

⁹T 1-216.

¹¹Plaintiff's Post-Trial Brief (R 454-494), and Defendants' Post-Hearing Brief (R 495-543).

¹²Opinion and Judgment (R 544-56; RE 2 at 5-17).

criticisms of Dr. Limbert and her administration were "unmerited" and that Dr. Limbert had "wellgrounded" fears that these Alumnae Association leaders were "interfering with the administration of university business". Finally, the Chancery Court determined that Dr. Limbert had the right to exercise her judgment in terminating the written affiliation agreement between the Alumnae Association and the University.

Despite these findings, the Chancery Court concluded that Dr. Limbert acted in "bad faith" when she exercised the 60-day termination provision in the affiliation agreement with the Alumnae Association because (i) her refusal to approve by-laws submitted by the Alumnae Association conflicted with IHL Board policy that affiliated entities be "independent" and (ii) her termination of the affiliation agreement in the face of criticism from Alumnae Association leaders violated First Amendment "Free Speech" rights. Based on these conclusions, the Chancery Court mandated that the University re-affiliate with the Alumnae Association. The Chancery Court also mandated that the University and the IHL Board disaffiliate with the new Mississippi University for Women Alumni Association (and any other alumni group), as the Chancery Court concluded that the formation of the new Alumni Association and entry into an affiliation agreement with that entity were also done in "bad faith". Finally, the Chancery Court refused to prohibit the Alumnae Association from using the University's name, marks, symbols and logos.

Defendants filed their Notice of Appeal on October 26, 2007.¹³

C. Statement of Facts

1:

į

÷,

ŧ.

Mississippi's public universities, like other colleges and universities, have close relationships with certain types of private entities that supplement and complement the universities' operations.

¹³Notice of Appeal (R 557-59).

These affiliated entities include general foundations, athletic foundations, and alumni associations. These entities vary depending on the size of the institution.¹⁴ Affiliated entities exist "to be supportive of the institution, to enhance its mission, [and] to enhance its success." The role of an alumni association, in particular, is "to help recruit students, faculty, [and] individuals to be supportive of the institution, [as well as] volunteer ways to publicize the institution...."¹⁵

In 2005, the IHL Board adopted a policy requiring all public universities to enter written operating agreements with their respective foundations. Effective August 2006, the IHL Board expanded that policy to include relationships between Mississippi's public universities and all affiliated entities, including alumni associations.¹⁶ The IHL Board recognized that it should not have direct control over affiliated entities and that these entities must be governed separately to protect their "private, independent" status. "[T]o ensure the independence of the affiliated entities", the IHL Board specifically prohibited its employees (including employees of the various universities) from holding a voting position on the board of directors of any institutionally affiliated entity.¹⁷

In addition, to protect the integrity of the university system, to instill public confidence in the affiliated entities, and to ensure that the universities' transactions with their affiliates were consistent with the affiliates' mission "to assist and benefit" the respective universities, the IHL Board imposed

¹⁴Meredith Testimony, T 223-24.

1 :

¹⁶Id., T 224-25; IHL Policy § 301.0806 (PX 1; RE 3).

¹⁵*Id.*, T 260-61.

¹⁷Id. (PX 1; RE 3 at 22). Mississippi law requires a nonprofit corporation to have directors that exercise all corporate powers and manage corporate affairs. See Miss. Code Ann. § 79-11-231 (1) and (2); see also City of Picayune v. Southern Reg'l Corp., 916 So. 2d 510, 523 (Miss. 2005) ("It is well settled that the directors of a corporation are charged with the duty of managing its affairs.").

certain legal and financial compliance and reporting requirements on the affiliated entities.¹⁸ "To ensure that the relationship is clearly defined", the IHL Board required the universities enter written affiliation agreements with the affiliated entities and required that the agreements include certain specific provisions.¹⁹

Consistent with its decentralized management system, the IHL Board left implementation of the affiliated entity policy to the various institutional executive officers.²⁰ The university presidents could determine if affiliated entities were needed at all and, if so, under what terms.²¹ Provided that the operating agreements satisfied the mandates of the IHL Policy, the university presidents could determine other provisions necessary to ensure that any affiliated entity operated in a manner that supported and enhanced the university's mission and purpose.²²

Mississippi University for Women has historically affiliated with two outside entities, the Mississippi University for Women Foundation and the Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Association, Inc. The University had already entered an affiliation agreement with the University Foundation in 2005, but, under the new IHL requirement, the University would need to do the same with the Alumnae Association. Completing this task would prove to be difficult.

Dr. Claudia Limbert, President of the University, discovered before she ever arrived on campus in the summer of 2002 that some leaders of the University's Alumnae Association had inaccurate yet strong views about their roles in the operation of the University. On her flight to

1 :

÷

٤.,

ŧ.

¹⁸IHL Policy § 301.0806 (PX 1; RE 3 at 21-22).

¹⁹Id. (PX 1; RE 3 at 22-23).

²⁰Meredith Testimony, T 222-23 and 226.

²¹*Id.*, T 226 and 260.

²²*Id.*, T 226.

Mississippi following her selection as President, some of these Association leaders began aggressively lobbying her about personnel decisions that should be made on campus.²³ Later, one of the leaders sought to have Dr. Limbert create a new position on campus and to appoint that alumna to the job.²⁴ Dr. Limbert eventually became aware that several University departments did not like dealing with these Alumnae Association leaders.²⁵

As part of her new administration, Dr. Limbert re-structured certain areas of the University to more closely resemble the models with which she was familiar. In particular, Dr. Limbert filled the long-vacant position of Vice President for University Advancement with an experienced person, Scott Rawles. Under this organization, the University focused fund raising responsibility with the University Foundation and limited the responsibility of the Alumnae Association to "friend raising". With the limited amount of public funds, Dr. Limbert knew that a well-organized plan for soliciting and obtaining private financial support was critical to the long-term viability of the University.

Some of the Alumnae Association leaders intensely disliked Rawles, who was certainly a change agent. This contingent of Alumnae Association leaders began to interfere and undermine University and Foundation operations.²⁶ The University first became aware of the scheme in the spring of 2006, when it retrieved emails from the computers of two employees in the Alumni Affairs

²⁴*Id.*, T 50.

1

²⁵*Id.*, T 50-51.

²³Limbert Testimony, T 49-50.

 $^{^{26}}$ Id., T 51-55; Flynt Testimony, T 271-73. In addition, the Alumnae Association did not exhibit the signs of health that Dr. Limbert expected and needed from the organization - - only a small portion of potential members belonged to the Alumnae Association and a smaller portion of these persons attended the annual meeting, leadership control remained in the same few hands, chapters closed came dormant, and male and minority alumni felt omitted from involvement. *Id.*, T 44 and 54-55.

Office.²⁷ As detailed in the "Report on Decision Concerning Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Association", dated February 14, 2007, and prepared by University Counsel Perry Sansing,²⁸ this small cadre of Alumnae Association leaders, operating with the knowledge and assistance of two former University employees in the Alumni Relations Office, had begun a campaign (i) to undermine the Foundation operations by suggesting financial improprieties that did not exist (public and private audits have confirmed that these charges lacked credibility), (ii) to get rid of Rawles by making a false accusation of sexual harassment (an internal University investigation found no evidence to support this allegation), and (iii) to have Dr. Limbert fired and replaced with one of the members of this small group.

As part of their effort, these Alumnae Association leaders had assisted the two former University employees in acting in a manner insubordinate to the University administration, ultimately resulting in the termination of one of the employees and the re-assignment of the other. Time and again, the same names surfaced as the ones involved in this conduct - - - whether at a meeting with Dr. Tom Meredith, the IHL Commissioner, when they sought to have Dr. Limbert fired and replaced with one of their own, the decision to file suit against the University and Dr. Limbert, contributions to the fund for purchasing a full-page advertisement attacking Dr. Limbert and the University or paying for legal expenses - - - and many of these persons served as officers and directors of the Alumnae Association.²⁹

1

ł

ì

1

1

²⁸DX 12.

²⁷*Id.*, T 46.

²⁹Jones Testimony, T 73-74, 134-35, 139-40 and 150; Meredith Testimony, T 232-34; Limbert Testimony, T 316-17; Report on Decision Concerning Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Association (February 14, 2007) (DX-12).

Undeterred by the disclosure of these emails and their destructive activities, the Alumnae Association leaders continued to wage their campaign of interference. Two facilitated meetings in the summer of 2006 did little to placate the Alumnae Association leaders.³⁰ By this time, Dr. Limbert was developing reservations about the University maintaining a relationship with the Alumnae Association absent a significant change in the Association's leadership and its corresponding appreciation of the Association's role within the broad University framework.

Needless to say, the affiliation agreement negotiations with the Alumnae Association proved difficult, further adding to Dr. Limbert's concern about the University's ongoing relationship. Finally, after a deadline extension and last minute efforts, the University and the Alumnae Association signed their Affiliation Agreement in late October.³¹ However, the process was not complete, as the Affiliation Agreement required the Alumnae Association to revise its Constitution and Bylaws within 60 days, change its name to the "Alumni Association" and take certain other actions to ensure that participation in and leadership of the organization would not rest in the hands of the same insular group but would afford opportunities for participation by all members of the University's diverse alumni.³²

Rather than undertaking a serious revamping of its operative documents to achieve the goals outlined by the University, the Alumnae Association made a few irrelevant changes and submitted its Constitution and Bylaws for President Limbert's consideration. Discussions about the Constitution and Bylaws followed a path similar to those concerning the Affiliation Agreement, with the primary disagreement concerning officer succession, floor nominations and criteria for awards

Ì I

ī

1,

³⁰Meredith Testimony, T 235-37.

³¹Affiliation Agreement (PX 4; RE 4).

³²Id., §§ 2.17 and 2.24 (PX 4; RE 4 at 27-28).

given by the Alumnae Association. The University extended the 60-day deadline to allow the Alumnae Association leaders further time to satisfy the provisions of the Affiliation Agreement. Ultimately, as the negotiations were approaching the new deadline, the Alumnae Association accused the University of acting in "bad faith".

The University concluded that the relationship between the Alumnae Association and the University had reached a point beyond repair. The University had worked tirelessly to heal the wounds caused by these Alumnae Association leaders since uncovering their scheme. By this point, however, enough was enough. On February 1, 2007, the University notified the Alumnae Association that the University was terminating the Affiliation Agreement.³³

Dr. Limbert immediately began the process of redefining the University's relationship with its alumni, a decision that the IHL Board supported.³⁴ She appointed Andrea Overby, a former President of the Alumnae Association, to chair the University's Alumni Association Advisory Committee.³⁵ Ms. Overby in turn selected the remaining members of the Advisory Committee. At Dr. Limbert's suggestion, Ms. Overby did invite Betty Lou Jones (Alumnae Association President) to serve, and Ms. Jones accepted. The University's Alumni Affairs Office also created a new alumni entity, Mississippi University for Women Alumni Association.

As a result of their work and deliberations, the Advisory Committee selected a set of interim officers and directors to lead the new Alumni Association. Though Dr. Limbert played no role in the selection of this leadership team, Betty Lou Jones (President of the Alumnae Association) did

1 1

ł

÷

10.000

³³See Letter from Mayo to Compretta (February 1, 2007) (PX 5; RE 5).

³⁴IHL Board Press Release (February 15, 2007) (DX 8).

³⁵Limbert Testimony, T 36-37 and 41-42.

participate. On March 27, 2007, the University and the new Alumni Association announced the signing of an affiliation agreement, which the IHL Board later approved.³⁶

1 :

÷

į,

April 2, 2007, marked the end of the 60-day termination period under the Affiliation Agreement between the Alumnae Association and the University. As of that point, the relationship ceased between the University and the Alumnae Association until the Chancery Court's Order and Judgment mandated that the University affiliate with the Alumnae Association and terminate its relationship with the new Alumni Association.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court's Opinion and Judgment (i) violates constitutional limitations on the ability of the judicial branch to interfere with the IHL Board's policy decisions on higher education, (ii) disregards constitutional limitations on the ability of the judicial branch to second-guess an executive branch agency's interpretation of its own rules and regulations, (iii) improperly mandates that Dr. Limbert exercise her discretion in a particular manner concerning the University's association with certain outside entities, (iv) negates the University's clear contractual right to terminate its affiliation with the Alumnae Association, (v) fails to recognize that Dr. Limbert acted in the best interests of the University's relationships with affiliated entities, (vi) improperly grants a specific performance remedy that is untenable for an affiliation contract, and (vii) fails to protect the University's property interest in its names, marks and symbols.

The University's decision to terminate the affiliation with the Alumnae Association and to form an alliance with the new Alumni Association falls within the constitutional power exclusively

³⁶See Affiliation Agreement with Alumni Association (DX 9); Meredith Testimony, T 243-44.

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