IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI



CASE NO. 2007-CA-1926

DR. CLAUDIA A. LIMBERT, individually and as President of Mississippi University for Women; MISSISSIPPI UNIVERSITY FOR WOMEN; and MISSISSIPPI BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF STATE INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING

APPELLANTS

FILED

APR 16 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS
APPELLEE

٧.

MISSISSIPPI UNIVERSITY FOR WOMEN ALUMNAE ASSOCIATION, INC.

ON APPEAL FROM LOWNDES COUNTY CHANCERY COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JULIE L. HUSSEY, ESQ. DLA PIPER US LLP 401 B Street, Suite 1700 San Diego, CA 92101-4297 Telephone: 619-699-2844 Facsimile: 619/764-6644 Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants have alleged seven points of error in their brief, many of which relate to the Appellants' contention that this case involves issues affecting the IHL Board's constitutional authority. The Association does not share the Appellants' view regarding the nature of this case; accordingly, the Association will address each of the Appellants' arguments within the framework of the case as the Association sees it. For the Court's convenience and ease of reading, however, the Association will identify its responses to the Appellants' alleged points of error through the use of footnotes.

The chancellor found that Limbert's decision to terminate the affiliation agreement with the association constituted a bad faith breach of policy for two reasons: First, the chancellor held that Limbert sought control of the Association's internal governance in a manner that violated the IHL policy's requirement that all affiliated entities remain "independent" from their respective universities. Limbert's decision to terminate the affiliation agreement for a legally impermissible reason – a desire for control that was expressly prohibited by the governing IHL policy – constituted a bad faith breach of the affiliation agreement. Second, the chancellor found that Limbert, acting as an agent of the IHL, and therefore, the State of Mississippi, sought to silence the criticism of some individual alumni by punishing the Association. Limbert's motive in terminating the affiliation agreement, however ineffectual in achieving her goal of silencing alumni criticism, was constitutionally impermissible, and constituted bad faith *per se*. To remedy this bad faith breach of contract, the chancellor exercised her jurisdiction to fashion an equitable remedy: a permanent injunction ordering Limbert to act in good faith in upholding the affiliation agreement and to terminate the relationship with Limbert's appointed group.

The chancellor's holding that Limbert operated in bad faith in terminating the agreement is supported by substantial evidence. The IHL policy governing the parameters of all affiliation agreements requires that affiliated entities remain "independent" from the respective universities they serve. The chancellor correctly found that Limbert was seeking to control the Association's internal governance and that Limbert's actions violated the IHL Board's requirement that the Association maintain its independence while working cooperatively with the University. In making this determination, the chancellor was required to review the affiliation agreement and Limbert's actions in light of the IHL policy.

The IHL policy itself contains no definition of the term "independent." During the course of the hearings, the IHL Board Commissioner testified that the term "independent" had no objective definition. Instead of adhering to the ordinary meaning of the word "independent," the members of the IHL Board had opted to allow each university president to decide what the term meant. T. at 245. The chancellor correctly determined that the IHL Board's interpretation of the term "independent" was arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law. Having made that determination properly, the chancellor was obligated to intervene.

The chancellor applied the same definition of "independent" to the IHL policy that this Court has applied to charitable foundations. See City of Picayune v. Southern Reg'l Corp., 916 So. 2d 510, 523 (¶33) (Miss. 2005). While the Association agrees that the chancellor was correct in her determination that the IHL Board's subjective, amorphous definition of "independent" was arbitrary and capricious, the chancellor erred in finding that the policy itself was ambiguous and, therefore subject to statutory interpretation, rather than finding that it was the IHL Board's application of its own policy that was arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law. The policy itself was clear and unambiguous on its face. Because the policy itself is not ambiguous, the chancellor should have simply adopted the plain meaning of the word "independent." See, e.g., Tower Loan of Mississippi, Inc. v. Mississippi State Tax Comm'n, 662 So.2d 1077, 1083 (Miss. 1995) (citing the proposition that where there is no statutory definition of a word or phrase, "it must be given its common and ordinary meaning."); Richardson v. Canton Farm Equip., 608 So. 2d 1240, 1250-51 (Miss. 1992) (holding that when a statute does not specifically define a term, the term should be given its ordinary meaning); Wilson v. Wilson, 547 So.2d 803, 805 (Miss. 1989) (holding that courts "read the words of a statute (or any other legal text) by their common and ordinary meaning."). Had the chancellor adopted the ordinary meaning of the word and then applied the policy accordingly, the chancellor would have reached the same

conclusion – that Limbert acted in bad faith in terminating the affiliation agreement and in creating a new, appointed alumni association and that the Association was entitled to a permanent injunction. In other words, the chancellor reached the correct conclusion but for the wrong reason. Therefore, this Court should affirm the chancellor's decision and correct the chancellor's analysis of the IHL policy. See Falco Lime v. Mayor & Aldermen of Vicksburg, 836 So.2d 711, 725 (¶62) (Miss. 2002) (citation omitted) (holding that an appellate court may "affirm where an agency or lower court reaches the right result for the wrong reason.")

Having properly rejected the IHL Board's interpretation of "independent," the chancellor correctly determined that Limbert's attempts to control the Association's internal governance violated the IHL policy and that Limbert's decision to terminate the agreement as a means to punish the Association for refusing to cede control of its internal governance to Limbert constituted bad faith. The record contains substantial evidence to show that Limbert intended to control every aspect of the Association's internal governance, including the content of its bylaws, its methods for nominating and electing officers, and its day-to-day operations. The record also contains substantial evidence to show that Limbert terminated the agreement in order to create a group of her own choosing that would permit her to have control to which she was not entitled. The record also demonstrates that the IHL Board was an active participant in Limbert's plan to illegally terminate the Association's affiliation agreement and to create another alumni organization that would be subject to her control.

Given the nature of the contract and the unique relationship between the parties, the only remedy available to the chancellor was a permanent injunction, and the permanent injunction entered was both valid and appropriate to the situation. Contrary to Appellants' assertions, the chancellor did not enter a writ of mandamus, nor did the chancellor's injunction violate the doctrine of "non-judicial interference." Instead, the chancellor properly exercised her

jurisdiction to remedy Limbert's bad faith breach of the affiliation agreement. The chancellor's decision to order specific performance and to limit Limbert's ability to create a new alumni group was a proper exercise of her equitable jurisdictional power and not, as Appellants contend, an attempt to interfere with the IHL Board's authority.

Finally, even if this Court were to reverse the chancellor's decision, the Association should be permitted to keep its name. The university has registered a single word mark that does not create trademark protection for the name "Mississippi University for Women." Additionally, the University's name is not protected because it is a descriptive term not entitled to trademark protection.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review.

The Mississippi Supreme Court "will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his or her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Sanderson v. Sanderson, 824 So.2d 623, 625-26 (¶8) (Miss. 2002). Substantial evidence means something more than a "mere scintilla" of evidence, Johnson v. Ferguson, 435 So.2d 1191 (Miss. 1983), but it does not rise to the level of "a preponderance of the evidence." Babcock & Wilcox Co. v. McClain, 149 So.2d 523 (Miss. 1963). In other words, substantial evidence "means such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Substantial evidence means evidence which is substantial, that is, affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred." Delta CMI v. Speck, 586 So.2d 768, 773 (Miss. 1991). All issues of law are reviewed de novo. Maldonado v. Kelly, 768 So.2d 906, 908 (¶4) (Miss. 2000).

II. The chancellor's holding that Limbert breached the affiliation agreement in bad faith is legally correct and is supported by substantial evidence.

The chancellor held that Limbert breached the affiliation agreement in bad faith through her attempts to control the Association's internal governance and through her attempts to silence individual members of the Association by disaffiliating the entire organization. The chancellor correctly held that Limbert was attempting to assert control over the Association to which she was not entitled and that her decision to disaffiliate the Association for refusing to cede control of its internal operations constituted a bad faith breach of the affiliation agreement. The chancellor further found that Limbert's animosity toward certain individual alumni led her to act, with the apparent authority of the IHL Board, in a manner that was unconstitutional. The chancellor's reasoning was proper and is supported by substantial evidence.

A. The chancellor applied the correct legal standard in reaching the conclusion that Limbert's actions constituted a bad faith breach of the agreement.

In Mississippi, "[a]ll contracts contain an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in performance and enforcement." Cenac v. Murry, 609 So. 2d 1257, 1272 (Miss. 1992) (citations omitted). All parties to a contract are required to comport themselves in a manner that constitutes good faith, a duty "based on fundamental notions of fairness." Id. (citation omitted). Good faith is defined as "the faithfulness of an agreed purpose between two parties, a purpose which is consistent with justified expectations of the other party. The breach of good faith is bad faith characterized by some conduct which violates standards of decency, fairness or reasonableness." Id. (emphasis added). Bad faith is a "refusal to fulfill some duty or some contractual obligation, not prompted by an honest mistake as to one's rights or duties, but by some interested or sinister motive." Bailey v. Bailey, 724 So. 2d 335, 338 (¶9) (Miss. 1998) (emphasis in original). The phrase "bad faith" "implies the conscious doing of a wrong because

of dishonest purpose or moral obliquity; . . . it contemplates a state of mind affirmatively operating with furtive design or ill will." <u>Id.</u>

The chancellor applied the correct legal standard and concluded that Limbert's actions constituted a bad faith breach of the affiliation agreement. The chancellor specifically found that Limbert acted intentionally. The chancellor also found that Limbert acted for the specific purpose of terminating the relationship between the then-117-year old Association and the University so that she could establish an alumni association that would be "Limbert-friendly" and silence the individual alumni who criticized her leadership of the University. The chancellor held that Limbert's purposes were violative of the covenant of good faith inherent in all Mississippi contracts. Substantial evidence supports the chancellor's findings.

B. Limbert's decision to disaffiliate the Association due to her arbitrary refusal to approve the Association's bylaws constitutes bad faith.

The Association submitted bylaws for Limbert's approval, as required by the affiliation agreement. The affiliation agreement contained the same language set forth in the IHL policy regarding the Association's obligation to be "independent" and "governed separately" from the University. The affiliation agreement also provided that the bylaws must be "consistent with the mission and priorities of the University, this Agreement, and IHL policy." Pl. Exh. 4. The affiliation agreement required nothing further with respect to the content of the bylaws, but Limbert insisted on insinuating herself into the Association's work on its own bylaws and demanded provisions that greatly exceeded the scope of the affiliation agreement.

Limbert acted aggressively to prohibit the Association from fulfilling its obligations by sabotaging the meetings between the Association and the University representatives regarding the bylaws. Limbert's failure to cooperate during the bylaws meetings and her insistence on bylaws provisions outside the terms of the affiliation agreement constituted bad faith. Bad faith

is not determined by a pre-set pattern of behavior but "varies according to the nature of the agreement." Cenac, 902 So. 2d at 1272. The agreement required the Association to submit bylaws that were consistent with the missions and priorities of the University, the affiliation agreement, and the IHL policy. The Association fulfilled its obligation, and Limbert arbitrarily refused to approve those bylaws simply because they did not give her control of the Association.

The Appellants presented no testimony and no exhibits to establish how the proposed bylaws failed to meet the requirements of the affiliation agreement. Accordingly, there is no evidence that Limbert's refusal to approve the bylaws was made in good faith and within her rights under the contract. To the contrary, the evidence conclusively proves that Limbert disaffiliated the Association because she could not exert the control she wanted. T. at 58, 333. Pl. Exh. 6. Under the terms of the affiliation agreement and in the context of the long-term relationship between the parties, Limbert had "a duty not only to refrain from hindering or preventing the occurrence of conditions of [her] own duty or the performance of the [Association's] duty, but also to take some affirmative steps to cooperate in achieving these goals." Cenac, 902 So. 2d at 1272. Her decisions to impede the negotiations and to arbitrarily refuse to approve the Association's proposed bylaws constituted a bad faith breach of the affiliation agreement, and substantial evidence supports the chancellor's finding of bad faith.

C. Substantial evidence supports the chancellor's finding that Limbert acted in bad faith when she attempted to disaffiliate the Association because the Association refused to violate the IHL policy's requirement that the Association remain independent.

Limbert's arbitrary refusal to approve the Association's bylaws stemmed from her desire to impose her own set of bylaws on the Association, bylaws that would give her control of the Association. The chancellor reviewed the IHL policy and the affiliation agreement and correctly determined that Limbert sought control of the Association to which she was not entitled.

Under the provisions of Limbert's proposed bylaws, Limbert would choose the structure of the Association's governing board and control the nominations and elections processes. Limbert's testimony clearly demonstrated her desire for control of all aspects of the Association's internal governance. Limbert testified that she insisted on control in order to "prevent the same alumnae group that we were having problems with, going out on the floor and then putting up their own slate of officers." T. at 58. Limbert also testified that she did not want to "have gone through all of this just to have it all revert back to the same people running the organization, the same small group replicating themselves once again." T. at 58. Ultimately, Limbert testified that under the provisions she wanted, adding candidates to the slate of officers from the floor would be more difficult, but "it would allow us to have a little control." T. at 333. In other words, Limbert would only approve the bylaws if those bylaws could ensure that the Association's officers agreed with her philosophy and her administrative decisions

Ultimately, however, nothing could justify Limbert's attempts to control the Association and her decision to disaffiliate the Association for its refusal to cede control to Limbert because, as the chancellor correctly held, the IHL policy governing the affiliation agreement required the Association to be independent and free from the University's – and Limbert's – control.

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